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Future Fuels for Flight and Freight Competition (F4C) 
 

Please refer to the F4C Guidance document available from ee.ricardo.com/F4C for all information, in 

the first instance.   

If you need further clarification, please contact the F4C project team at F4C@ricardo.com.  The project 

team will endeavour to provide an answer to your question and update this document to reflect any 

new clarifications. 

 

FAQs 

Is this scheme for UK-based companies only? 

Page 7 of the guidance notes states that, the demonstration-scale plant funded under the Competition 

must be located in the UK. Page 10 of the guidance states that: Applications are expected primarily 

from private sector commercial organisations, with a range of project partners including SMEs and 

academic institutions. The Competition is open to applications from non-UK organisations. While there 

is no requirement for the applicant organisation to be registered in the UK, the project itself must be 

located in the UK (see eligibility criteria in Section B). 

 

Are there any restrictions on the fuel type proposed? 

DfT only require that fuels meet the eligibility criteria (page 6-7 of the Guidance document), and then 

preferred applicants will be assessed according to the Stage One Selection criteria (in Table 2). 

Essentially, any fuel type is permissible, provided applicants can demonstrate a high commercial 

potential and clear pathway for use in HGVs or planes. 

 

Is upgrading of AD biomethane eligible under F4C? 

Biogas upgrading to biomethane is very unlikely to be eligible under the F4C as upgrading technology 

is commercially available. Applicants would have to make an extremely strong case for the novelty of 

their upgrading technology, and its significant benefits and supply potentials unlocked, given that their 

market is inherently linked to AD deployment. Applicants should also be aware of the risk that even if 

they are judged to pass the TRL eligibility criteria, DfT and selection panel experts might see the AD 

market as being too developed to prioritise support in this area when looking at the portfolio of bids 

received. 

 

Is avgas included within the Competition scope? 

Avgas (also known as aviation spirit in the UK) is an aviation fuel used in aircraft powered by spark-

ignition piston engines. Avgas is included with the F4C scope, but the avgas market is many times 

https://ee.ricardo.com/transport/case-studies/f4c
mailto:F4C@ricardo.com
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smaller than the aviation turbine fuel (avtur) market. Therefore, bidders proposing to produce avgas 

will have to answer Questions 2 and 13 in full, justifying the future commercial potential for avgas fuel 

and providing a credible pathway to decarbonising the aviation sector, clearly setting out the 

maximum potential displacement of fossil fuels in both the avgas and avtur segments.  

 

What is the definition of a Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV)? 

An HGV is a vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of goods and having a gross combination 

mass of at least 3.5 tonnes. 

 

Will there be a difference in fuel GHG savings depending on the HGV used? 

Note that some fuels and engine types will have a different km/MJ fuel efficiency to fossil diesel used 

in a standard compression ignition engine, so the fuel GHG emissions value should be adjusted 

up/down accordingly. For example, HGV engines can be up to 5% less efficient if using methane in 

spark ignition engines compared to diesel compression ignition engines. Any assumptions about a 

vehicle efficiency adjustment factor should be made very clear before this is applied to the fuel GHG 

emission intensity. Note that renewable hydrogen if used in a fuel cell electric drivetrain would use a 

0.4 multiplier, as per the FQD rules. 

 

Air quality implications from HGVs 

We note that complying with vehicle air quality regulations is a mandatory requirement throughout 

this competition, i.e. vehicles still have to comply even when using new fuels. Application form 

question 18 asks for a detailed response on the air quality impacts of your fuel. 

 

Why is marine transport excluded from the F4C? 

Whilst DfT recognise that the shipping sector faces decarbonisation challenges, we do not intend to 

bring maritime fuels into scope of the RTFO. This is because there is not yet international agreement 

on how the shipping sector should decarbonise and there may be better alternatives for decarbonising 

shipping. There is a finite resource of biofuel feedstock and we need to make sure that it is allocated 

most effectively. We will however keep this under review as the International Maritime Organisation 

develops its carbon reduction strategy. Therefore, for the purposes of the F4C, marine fuels will not 

be eligible. 

 

What if only part of our proposed activities are eligible for F4C? 

A downstream conversion project using an ineligible type of intermediate processing technology 

would not be automatically disqualified from entering the F4C, provided the initial feedstocks 

supplying the intermediate processing technology still comply with the F4C waste or residues 

criterion. Project support could only be given in proportion to the eligible processes detailed within 

the proposal. If successful, applicants could then expect to see the maximum grant % reduced 

proportionally, given that State Aid does not allow support for particular routes.  
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The same logic would also apply to proposed project activities that partially rely on the use of existing 

assets or facilities – capital support could only be given in relation to the new assets or facilities 

proposed.  

A conversion project using a mix of eligible and ineligible feedstocks would apply the same logic. 

Support could only be given in proportion to the share of the output fuel that is derived from waste 

and residues. If successful, applicants could then expect to see the maximum grant % reduced 

proportionally, given that State Aid does not allow support for particular routes.  

 

What is the definition of an SME for the purposes of State Aid? 

The definition of SMEs used in the State aid area is;  

• A medium-sized enterprise is an enterprise satisfying all of the following criteria: 

- has fewer than 250 employees and 

- has either an annual turnover not exceeding EUR 50 million, and/or a balance-sheet 

total not exceeding EUR 43 million. 

• A small enterprise is an enterprise that satisfies all of the following criteria: 

- has fewer than 50 employees and 

- has either an annual turnover and/or a balance-sheet total not exceeding EUR 10 

million. 

• A micro- enterprise is an enterprise that satisfies all of the following criteria: 

- has fewer than 10 employees and 

- has either an annual turnover and/or a balance-sheet total not exceeding EUR 2 

million. 

The criteria must be applied to the company as a whole (including subsidiaries located in other 

Member States and outside the EU). The Regulation provides definitions of an autonomous enterprise, 

partner enterprise and linked enterprise to assess the real economic position of the SME in question. 

 

Does the TRL apply specifically to plant technologies or fuels and feedstocks as well? 

When assessing the Technology Readiness Level (TRL) of proposed projects the Department for 

Transport (DfT) and selection panel experts will consider the combination of proposed feedstock(s), 

conversion technologies and fuel(s) produced to determine the global TRL of the proposed route.  The 

TRL 8-9 eligibility criterion therefore applies globally and not just to the applicant's own route or 

technology. 

For example; DfT and the selection panel experts will look at the global status of the proposed route, 

and the extent to which other providers have developed the same route.  This will allow an assessment 

of whether the applicant's technology is sufficiently novel to warrant being eligible for the F4C. The 

applicant will therefore have to either evidence that their proposed route is yet to be commercialised 

anywhere globally (i.e. the global TRL is between 5 and 7), or that significant benefits and/or supply 

potentials will be unlocked by their technology compared to other commercial alternatives (that are 

already at TRL 8-9). In either case, the applicant will have to show how their route compares to the 

status of other providers. A project application that proposes the use of more novel feedstocks in an 
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established technology could have a lower global TRL for their route, and therefore are more likely to 

be considered eligible than conventional feedstocks used in the same established technology.  

 

Can applicants claim back any of the costs incurred in preparing a Stage One application? 

All costs incurred for the preparation and submission of applications are to be borne by the applicants 

and will not be reimbursed, no matter if the applicant has been successful or not in applying for grant 

funding or in the unlikely event of the grant competition being cancelled prior to grant award. 

 

How will exchange rates fluctuations affect State Aid limits and grant amounts awarded? 

The grant amount awarded and the level of State Aid your organisation will receive (a limit of 15M 

EUR under Article 41) will be calculated by reference to the Sterling/Euro exchange rate at the date of 

grant award, and it will not be possible to adjust the amount of the grant thereafter by reference to 

subsequent exchange rate movements. Bidders will have to accept (i.e. take steps to hedge) the risk 

of any exchange rate fluctuation following grant award.  

What GHG methodology should I use for fossil fuels? 

The GHG methodology in RED Annex V only applies to biofuels - it does not apply to waste fossil fuels, 
such as those made from waste fossil plastic you are proposing. 
Unfortunately, there isn't yet an agreed GHG methodology for waste fossil fuels yet - at either an EU 
or UK level. DfT is aware of this policy gap, and is working on addressing this. Any new GHG 
methodology arising would likely be consulted on only next year. The European Commission are 
carrying out similar work with the JRC. The existing FQD (Annex I, Part 2, 5.) default GHG emission 
value for "petrol/diesel/gasoil" from "waste plastic derived from fossil feedstocks" is 86 gCO2e/MJ, 
which would not meet the 70% GHG saving threshold required by the F4C. However, the underlying 
GHG methodology is not given, and this FQD default value does not (yet) necessarily apply to the F4C. 
 
The F4C is therefore inviting applicants to use their own GHG methodology and calculations in deriving 
a gCO2e/MJ value for their waste fossil fuels, although asking you to follow (or at least have regard 
for) the proposed GHG methodology set out in the RTFO consultation (sections 2.49-2.71) where 
possible and appropriate. This current openness in approach means that applicants need to very 
clearly set out all the assumptions and calculation steps that they make - particularly on the feedstock 
and fuel end use/combustion emissions. Your GHG methodology could therefore include the 
counterfactual fate of the plastics (and hence the displaced sequestration in landfill, or displaced 
electricity from incineration), or could include a fossil fuel end use combustion factor when the fuel is 
burnt. Land-use change emissions are unlikely to factor in your calculation. However, the embodied 
carbon in your feedstock material could still count, depending on your GHG methodology chosen. For 
the processing step, we would indeed encourage applicants to use pilot plant data where possible, i.e. 
robust evidence of your yields, and other energy/material inputs and outputs to the plant. 

GHG calculation should be for the F4C project, with a separate calculation for a larger commercial 
scale plant (since the GHG result for this commercial plant is where the 70% GHG saving threshold will 
be applied).  

Note a new GHG methodology could be imposed by DfT or by the European Commission at a later 
date. 

  
 

https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Feur-lex.europa.eu%2Flegal-content%2FEN%2FTXT%2F%3Furi%3DCELEX%253A32015L0652&data=02%7C01%7Cf4c%40ricardo.com%7C06e548768eed478bd72c08d5336d90fe%7C0b6675bca0cc4acf954f092a57ea13ea%7C0%7C0%7C636471468037816773&sdata=SyDtyYNXAa8pCoUHkwF1gkJ6GGwtMIO2Kimmwc5to6I%3D&reserved=0
https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F572971%2Frtfo-consultation-document-2016.pdf&data=02%7C01%7Cf4c%40ricardo.com%7C06e548768eed478bd72c08d5336d90fe%7C0b6675bca0cc4acf954f092a57ea13ea%7C0%7C1%7C636471468037816773&sdata=WXp7%2BE4h0hOYTcy5p6d%2FAnEZwyjzSmhZ4wjy8aGb8GM%3D&reserved=0
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The guidelines state: “The advanced low carbon fuel supply chain (from feedstock to vehicle) must 

have a clear path to achieving a GHG reduction of at least 70% in comparison to a reference fossil 

fuel, once the technology is scaled-up and commercialised”. What should I include in the 

calculations? 

Similar to the GHG methodology in the RTFO, the supply chain GHG emissions to be assessed in the 
F4C are from the feedstock to the vehicle tailpipe. We are not looking for applicants to consider the 
fuel MJ/km driven (or flown). 

In the case of biofuels, the "fuel in use"/combustion emission factor is not excluded, but it is always 
taken to be zero under the EU's RED.  

In the case of waste fossil fuel, given there isn't a pre-determined GHG methodology available, it is 
the applicant's choice whether to set the "fuel in use"/combustion emissions factor in their GHG 
calculation to zero, or include a (potentially quite high) non-zero factor. If you do choose to set it to 
zero, then we would suggest that you either have to include the embedded carbon within the 
starting feedstock emissions factor (potentially high upstream emissions), or else consider the 
emissions from an avoided counterfactual use of the feedstock (which could be a high penalty if 
otherwise sequestering waste fossil plastic in landfill, or a modest and decreasing penalty if it would 
otherwise have been incinerated in the UK). The choice of GHG methodology and assumptions need 
to be very clearly set out in the application, including which factors along the supply chain have been 
set to zero (and why). 

So in summary, the "fuel in use" factor should be included, but there are choices for waste fossil fuel 
chains as to whether this is zero or not. 
 


